Designed to meet the increasing demand towards great home ideas and value
furnishing, IDCC is envisioned as an integrated one-stop centre offering patrons
everything they need at more affordable, wholesale prices. Strategically located, IDCC
commands prominent visibility as well as a wide captive market from surrounding
residential and commercial developments.
Scheduled for completion by the end of 2013, IDCC will offer a total leasing size of
255,880 sq ft. Different unit sizes offer flexible use of spaces whilst the 15 ft ceiling
height lends extra versatility for display purposes. Not only that, specific allocation
of lots will also ensure product segments are well spaced out.
With all these features in place, IDCC will indeed prove to be an astute venture for
all of its tenants.

Table of

Contents
Corporate Information

7

Letter To Shareholders

8

Directors’ Profile

10

Corporate Governance Statement

13

Report Of Audit
And Risk Management Committee

23

Additional Listing
Requirements Compliance Information

27

Statement On Risk Management
And Internal Control

29

Statement Of Directors’ Responsibility

31

Financial Statements

32

List Of Properties

115

Analysis Of Shareholdings

116

Analysis Of Warrant Holdings

118

Notice Of Tenth
Annual General Meeting

120

Proxy Form

Enclosed

Annual Report 2012

Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Seow Thiam Fatt
(Appointed on 25 June 2012 and
Re-designated to Chairman on 19 April 2013)
Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Tan Fie Ping
Managing Director

Tan Fie Jen

REGISTERED OFFICE
Lot 6.05 Level 6
KPMG Tower,
8 First Avenue,
Bandar Utama
47800 Petaling Jaya, Selangor
Tel : 03 – 7720 1188
Fax : 03 – 7720 1111

Executive Director

Toh Hong Chye
Executive Director

Low Kim Leng
Independent Non-Executive Director

Ong Chooi Lee
Independent Non-Executive Director

Tan Lay Beng
Independent Non-Executive Director

Lau Lee Cheng

SHARE REGISTRAR
Boardroom Corporate Services (KL) Sdn Bhd
Lot 6.05 Level 6
KPMG Tower,
8 First Avenue,
Bandar Utama
47800 Petaling Jaya, Selangor
Tel : 03 – 7720 1188
Fax : 03 – 7720 1111

(Resigned on 3 September 2012)
Executive Director

Azahar bin Baharudin
(Retired on 25 June 2012)
Independent Non-Executive Director

COMPANY SECRETARIES
Tai Yit Chan
(MAICSA 7009143)
Tan Ai Ning
(MAICSA 7015852)

AUDITOR
UHY
Suite 11.05, Level 11
The Gardens South Tower
Mid Valley City
Lingkaran Syed Putra
59200 Kuala Lumpur
Tel : 03 – 2279 3088
Fax : 03 – 2279 3099

PRINCIPAL BANKER
Hong Leong Bank Berhad
37 & 39 Jalan Johar 1,
Taman Desa Cemerlang
81800 Ulu Tiram Johor
Tel : 07 – 861 7488

STOCK EXCHANGE LISTING
ACE MARKET OF
BURSA MALAYSIA SECURITIES BERHAD
Stock Name : SERSOL
Stock Code : 0055

CORPORATE WEBSITE
www.sersol.com.my

7

8

SerSol Berhad (formerly known as SerSol Technologies Berhad) (602062-X)

Letter To Shareholders

Dear SerSol Berhad Shareholders,
2012 has been a transition year of restructuring the Group and the organisation. As mentioned in last year’s letter,
the new challenge for year 2012 is to transform, develop new products and to gain recognition in a new business
field. We have thus revamped our strategies in year 2012 and evolved into a better Group and organisation.
I hereby present you with the Annual Report of the Group and our review on the financial results of SerSol Berhad
for the financial year ended 31 December 2012 (“FYE 2012”).

PERFORMANCE REVIEW
The review of 2012’s financial report revealed that our SerSol Group recorded a loss after taxation of RM4.4 million
as compared to a loss after taxation of RM2.4 million for the corresponding FYE 2011. Our SerSol Group’s revenue
for FYE 2012 is RM18 million as compared to the revenue of RM30 million for FYE 2011. The reduction of revenue
is mainly due to the disposal of non performing subsidiaries and ceasation of copper business which contributed
27% of revenue to the Group in FYE 2011. The losses of RM0.607 million was incurred due to ceasation of copper
business, additional depreciation expenses close about RM1 million as a result of change in depreciation policy and
writing off on property, plant and equipment which have no future economic benefit amounting to RM0.630 million.

CHANGES THROUGHOUT YEAR 2012
Let me share with you on the changes which our Group has undergone:
1.

New Members in the Board of Directors
4 new Directors had joined the board during the year. Their vast experience and expertise in finance, accounting,
project management and legal advisory has good rapport with the government sector and the private sector.

2.

Restructuring Strategies
a)

Business Reviews
On the business side, the increased stimulus measures imposed by US, EU and Japan did not improve
market demand in the electrical and electronics sector. With the decision made by the new board
members, we have redirected our focus onto opportunities in our domestic market as our long term
strategies. The Research & Development (“R&D”) has thus developed Decorative Paint to cater for the
booming property industry in Malaysia. Decorative Paint is considered to have consistent market need
and demand, usually growing along with GDP and population, unlike electrical and electronics industry
which is affected by short technology life cycle.
In line with our restructuring programme, those foreign subsidiaries which are non-performing in the
past had been disposed or struck-off, namely Asset Capital Holdings Ltd., P.T. Multi Square and Multi
Square (S) Pte. Ltd.
The Board has also decided to cease our copper trading activities due to the commodities price are
always highly volatile; and high capital invested did not give a fruitful returns as anticipated.
These will strengthen the Group’s balance sheet and position the Group’s asset base for future growth
opportunities.

b)

Branding
The Company’s name has been changed to Sersol Berhad from SerSol Technologies Berhad. The
new company name breathes new life, changes and re-starts to further promote the Group’s growth.
Furthermore, it will no longer give the wrong impression that we are an IT company.
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Letter To Shareholders (Cont’d)

PROSPECTS FOR YEAR 2013
Our challenge for year 2013 is to breakthrough into the Decorative Paint market rivaling ahead the big players in the
sector. We also aim to etch the Sersol’s brand name into the property industry.
Our Group has also decided to enhance R&D capacity and capability to achieve a breakthrough in the Protective
Coating sector mainly for Oil and Gas Industry, the progress is moving well and we anticipate to launch this product
by the end of 2013.
Our strategies of customer centric, product innovation and quality emphasis are vital for the long term success of
our business in this increasingly competitive market.

APPRECIATION
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to express our gratitude to the retired/resigned directors who had
contributed their service to the Group; and many thanks to all our valued customers, bankers, suppliers, government
authorities, business associates and shareholders, for your continuous support and confidence.
I would also like to extend appreciation towards the management and staff of the Group for their commitment,
dedication, continuous improvement and development.
Last but not least, to my fellow Directors, gratitude for your invaluable support and advice.

Seow Thiam Fatt
Chairman
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Directors’ Profile

SEOW THIAM FATT
Age 72, Malaysian
(Independent Non-Executive Chairman)
Mr Seow Thiam Fatt was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
on 25 June 2012 and re-designated as Chairman on 19 April 2013. He is a Fellow of CPA
Australia, Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and past Fellow
of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia. He is also a member of the Malaysian
Institute of Accountants and the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants (MICPA).
He is a past President of MICPA and also served four years as a government appointed
Independent Director of the previous Kuala Lumpur Commodities Exchange (KLCE).
He has more than 20 years’ professional experience as a former Partner in the accounting
firms of Larry Seow & Co., Moores & Rowland and Arthur Young. He diverted from professional
practice in 1994 and thereafter held various senior positions in the private and public sectors,
including being the General Manager of the Financial Reporting Surveillance and Compliance
Department of the Securities Commission of Malaysia.
He is an Independent Non-Executive Director of Tan Chong Motor Holdings Berhad, Warisan
TC Holdings Berhad and ING Funds Berhad. He was also an Independent Director of Affin
Investment Bank Berhad from April 2004 to September 2011 and a past Independent Director
of Malaysia Pacific Corporation Berhad and ING Insurance Berhad. He does not have any
family relationship with any director and/or major shareholder of the Company, nor any conflict
of interest in any business arrangement involving the Company. He has not been convicted
of any offence within the past 10 years.

TAN FIE PING
Age 50, Malaysian
(Managing Director)
Mr Tan Fie Ping, began his career as a production supervisor in Daihwa (M) Sdn Bhd in
1986. He was appointed to the Board of SerSol on 1 September 2004. He is currently the
Managing Director of the Company.
He graduated with a Bachelor of Business Studies degree in 1985 from the University of
Winnipeg, Canada. While serving in Daihwa, he was holding several key positions in the
company during different period of time. These positions include Head of Department for
the 2nd Process Department, Head of Secondary Sales and Marketing Department and
Head of the Purchasing Department. He left Daihwa and joined Lea Tat (M) Sdn Bhd as
Manager in 1991 before leaving the Company in 1992 to set up his own business. He is the
pioneer of the Group and has vast working experience in the Electrical and Electronics and
industrial coatings industries.
He is the brother of Tan Fie Jen. He has no conflict of interest with the company and has no
conviction for any offences within the past 10 years.
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TAN FIE JEN
Age 47, Malaysian
(Executive Director)
Mr Tan Fie Jen, was appointed to the Board on 1 September 2004. He is currently the
Executive Director of the Company. He graduated from the Tunku Abdul Rahman College with
a Diploma in Building in 1989. He began his career as Sales Executive in various companies
such as Hunter Products (M) Sdn Bhd, Supermax Enterprise and Lea Tat (M) Sdn Bhd. He
joined the Group of the Company as Sales Executive in 1992 and has been promoted as
Assistant General Manager in 2001. He has 21 years of experience in the industrial coating
industries. He was promoted to Chief Operating Officer in Multi Square Sdn Bhd in 2006
and currently, he is working in SerSol as Marketing Director since 2008.
He is the brother of Tan Fie Ping. He has no conflict of interest with the company and has
no conviction for any offences within the past 10 years.

TOH HONG CHYE
Age 37, Malaysian
(Executive Director)
Mr Toh Hong Chye was appointed as an Executive Director on 1 March 2012. He is a
founder of H.C Toh & Co, involving in audit and business advisory of companies from various
industries. His experience covers audit and assurance engagements, corporate reporting
and compliance, taxation and wide ranging overseas exposures.
He does not have any family relationship with any Director and / or substantial shareholder of
the Company, nor does he have any personal interest in any business arrangement involving
the Company. He has no convictions for any offences within the past 10 years.

TAN LAY BENG
Age 59, Malaysian
(Independent Non-Executive Director)
Madam Tan Lay Beng was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
on 1 September 2004. She obtained her certificate as a Certified & Chartered Accountants
(ACCA) from the Association of Certified and Chartered Accountants United Kingdom in 1984
and was subsequently accredited with Fellow Certified and Chartered Accountant (FCCA).
She is currently a Chartered Accountant of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and a
Fellow Member of the Chartered Tax Institute of Malaysia.
She has started her career in the accounting and auditing field in 1973. After eight (8) years,
she chose to specialize in taxation work whereby she became the Tax manager of a medium
size firm and then continued her career in taxation work with Price Waterhouse in 1989.
She does not have any family relationship with any Director and / or substantial shareholder
of the Company, nor does she have any personal interest in any business arrangement
involving the Company. She has no convictions for any offences within the past 10 years.

11

12

SerSol Berhad (formerly known as SerSol Technologies Berhad) (602062-X)

Directors’ Profile (Cont’d)

ONG CHOOI LEE
Age 50, Malaysian
(Independent Non-Executive Director)
Mr Ong Chooi Lee was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on
30 April 2012. He graduated from St. Xavier’s Institution of Penang in 1979. For his tertiary
qualifications, he holds an Australian diploma of Management and a Diploma of Marketing.
He has 28 years of experience in property development, fast food and education. He began
his career in 1984 as an Operation executive, coordinating the development projects for
MBF Holdings Berhad (property division). He also held various positions in various division
including overseeing projects out of countries such as Singapore, Thailand and Indonesia.
During his working career, he was part of the team which brought in Grandy’s inc fast food
chain in Asia Pacific. He ventures into various businesses such as property development,
education, food & beverages and one of his successful projects is Suriamas development
in Bandar Sunway of which he is the founder of the project. He initiated the conceptual of
Rompin Swiftlet Eco Park from scratch and successfully obtained the approval from the
Local Council Majlis Daerah Rompin, Pahang. He hold the rights for Fuji & CoCoichibanya
in Malaysia for his food & beverages business.
He does not have any family relationship with any Director and/or substantial shareholder of
the Company, nor any personal interest in any business arrangement involving the Company.
He has had no convictions for any offences within the past 10 years.

LOW KIM LENG
Age 50, Malaysian
(Independent Non-Executive Director)
Mr Low Kim Leng was appointed as Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company on
30 April 2012. He graduated from Manchester Metropolitan University (UK) with the degree
of Bachelor of Arts (Hons) (Law) in 1983 and as an Utter Barrister of the Honourable Society
of Gray’s Inn, he was admitted to the English Bar in 1984. He was called to the Malaysian
Bar and was admitted as an advocate and solicitor of the High Court of Malaya in 1985. He
had practiced law in a couple of established legal firms since then.
He set up his own law practice in 2000 under the name and style of Messrs Ringo Low
& Associates of which he is now a principal partner and has also been actively practicing
law as an advocate and solicitor since then. He has been involved with Civil, Commercial,
Contractual and Corporate Litigation since 1985 at all levels of the judicial hierarchy.
He is also a registered Trade Mark Agent empowered to submit applications for registration
of trademarks. He has also been appointed a Notary Public to carry out notarial functions
since 2004. He is also a legal advisor to various national organisations.
He does not have any family relationship with any Director and/or substantial shareholder of
the Company, nor any personal interest in any business arrangement involving the Company.
He has had no convictions for any offences within the past 10 years.
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Corporate Governance Statement

The Board of Directors fully support the recommendations of the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2012
which set out the board principles and recommendations for good corporate governance and best practice for listed
company. The company has in place a Board Charter that sorts out, amongst others, the responsibilities, authorities,
procedures and policies. More information on the Board Charter can be found in the Company’s website at www.
sersol.com.my.
The Board is guided by the Principles and Recommendations as promulgated by the Malaysian Code on Corporate
Governance 2012 (the “MCCG 2012”) and the ACE Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad
(“Bursa Malaysia Listing Requirements”).
This Statement sets out the key aspects of how the Company has applied the Principles and Recommendations of
the MCCG 2012 during the financial year following the release of this framework by the Securities Commission in late
March 2012 which includes commitment to excellence in governance standards. Where a specific Recommendation
of the MCCG 2012 has not been observed during the financial year under review, the non-observance, including the
reasons thereof, is included in this Statement.

Establish clear roles and responsibilities of the Board and Management
1.1

Clear functions of the Board and Management
The Group acknowledges the pivotal role played by the Board in the stewardship of its direction and operations,
and ultimately the enhancement of long-term shareholders’ value. To fulfill this role, the Board is responsible
for the overall corporate governance of the Group, including its strategic direction, establishing goals for
management and monitoring the achievement of these goals.
Beyond the matters reserved for the Board’s decision, the Board has delegated the authority to achieve the
corporate objective to the Managing Director who has assumed all the responsibilities of the Chief Executive
Officer. The Managing Director remains accountable to the Board for the authority that is delegated to him,
and for the performance of the Group.
The Board monitors the decisions and actions of the Managing Director and the performance of the Group to
gain assurance that progress is being made towards the corporate objectives.

1.2

Clear roles and responsibilities
The Board of Directors has primary responsibility for the governance and management of the Group and
fiduciary responsibility for the financial health of the Company. The Group acknowledges the importance of
having an effective Board to lead and control the Group. The Board’s responsibilities include:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)
h)
i)

Reviewing and adopting a strategic plan for the Group
Overseeing the conduct of the Group’s businesses to evaluate whether the businesses are being properly
managed
Ensuring the implementation of appropriate systems to manage these risks
Succession planning, including appointing, training, fixing the compensation of, and where appropriate,
replacing key management
Developing and implementing a Corporate Disclosure Policy (including an investor relations programme
or shareholder communications policy) for the Group
Reviewing the adequacy and the integrity of our Group’s internal control systems and management
information systems, including systems for compliance with applicable laws, regulations, rules, directives
and guidelines
Monitoring and reviewing management processes aimed at ensuring the integrity of financial and other
reporting
Ensuring that the Company’s financial statements are true and fair and conform with the accounting
standards
Ensuring that the Company adheres to high standards of ethics and corporate behaviour
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Corporate Governance Statement (Cont’d)

1.3

Formalised ethical standards through Code of Ethics
Code of Ethics
The Board has adopted a Code of Ethics for the Board. The Code of Ethics is intended to focus on the Board
and each Director on areas of ethical risk, provide guidance to Directors to help them recognise and deal with
ethical issues, provide mechanisms to report unethical conduct and help foster a culture of integrity, honesty
and accountability.
The Group further has a Code of Conduct for Directors, management and employees of the Group. The Code
of Conduct is established to promote the corporate culture which engenders ethical conduct that permeates
throughout the Group.
The principle of the Code of Conduct is based on principles in relation to trust, integrity, responsibility, excellence,
loyalty, commitment, dedication, discipline, diligence and professionalism. The Code of Conduct is reviewed
and updated regularly by the Senior Management and the Board to meet Sersol’s needs and to address the
changing conditions where it works.
Copy of the Code of Conduct is available in the Company’s website.
Whistle Blower Policy
As part of the Company’s continuous effort to ensure that good corporate governance practices are being
adopted, the Company has an established Whistle Blower Policy to provide a clear line of communication and
reporting of concerns for employees at all levels.
Managers, officers and employees in supervisory roles shall report directly to the Chairman and members of
Audit and Risk Management Committee any allegations of suspected improper activities – whether received
as a protected disclosure, including those relating to financial reporting, unethical or illegal conduct, can be
verbal or in writing and forwarded in a sealed envelope, reported by their subordinates in the ordinary course
of performing their duties, or discovered in the course of performing their own duties.
A summary of the Whistle Blower Policy is available in the Company’s website.

1.4

Strategies promoting sustainability
The Group recognises the importance of sustainability and its increasing impact to the business. The Group is
committed to understanding and implementing sustainable practices and to exploring the benefits to the business
whilst attempting to achieve the right balance between the needs of the wider community, the requirements
of shareholders and stakeholders and economic success. The Board has adopted a Sustainability Policy for
the Group.
The Company’s activities on sustainability agenda for the year under review are set out on page 28 in the
annual report.

1.5

Access to information and advice
All Board members are provided with documents and relevant information for them to review the agenda items
prior to Board meetings. Senior management staffs and external advisors are invited to attend Board meetings
when necessary to provide further details, clarifications on matters being tabled.
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1.6

Qualified and competent Company Secretaries
The Board has access to information with regard to the activities within the Group and to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring the Board meeting procedures are adhered to. All
matters discussed and resolutions passed at each Board Meeting are recorded in the minutes of the Board
meeting.
The Board is regularly updated and advised by the Company Secretaries who are qualified, experienced and
competent on new statutory and regulatory requirements, and the resultant implications to the Company and
Directors in relation to their duties and responsibilities. The Company Secretaries, who oversee adherence with
board policies and procedures, brief the Board on the proposed contents and timing of material announcements
to be made to regulators. The Company Secretaries attend all Board and Board Committees meetings and
ensure that meetings are properly convened, and that accurate and proper records of the proceedings and
resolutions passed are taken and maintained accordingly

1.7

Board Charter
The Board Charter was adopted by the Board to achieve the objectives of transparency, accountability and
effective performance for the Group and the enhancement of corporate governance standards with the aim of
enshrining the concepts of good governance as promulgated in the MCCG 2012.
The Board Charter established promotes high standards of corporate governance and is designed to provide
guidance and clarity for Directors and management with regard to the roles of the Board and its committees.
The Board Charter is available in the Company’s website.

Strengthen Composition of the Board
2.1

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee consists of three Non-Executive Directors and meets as and when required. The
members of the Nomination Committee are as follows:Seow Thiam Fatt (Chairman)
Low Kim Leng
Ong Chooi Lee

2.2

Independent Non-Executive Director
Independent Non-Executive Director
Independent Non-Executive Director

Develop, maintain and review criteria for recruitment processes and annual assessment of Directors
The Nomination Committee is responsible for annual review of Board’s required mix of skill, experience, quality
and core competencies of the Directors, annual assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and
the contribution of each individual Director.
The Nomination Committee is also responsible for making recommendations for new appointment to the Board
by considering the skills, knowledge, professionalism required by the Group. The actual decision as to who
should be nominated will be the responsibility of the full board after considering the recommendations of the
committee. The Company Secretaries will ensure that all appointments are properly made; all the necessary
information is obtained as well as all legal and regulatory obligations are met.
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Any appointment of a new Director to the Board or Board Committee is recommended by Nomination Committee
for consideration and approval by the Board. In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, onethird of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office at each Annual General Meeting (“AGM”). A
retiring director shall be eligible for re-election. The Articles of Association also provide that all directors shall
retire at least once in three years.
Directors who are appointed by the Board during the financial year are subject to re-election by the shareholders
at the next AGM held following their appointments. The Company complies with Section 129 (6) of the Company
Act, 1965, which states that a Director who is over 70 years of age shall retire at every AGM and may offer
himself for re-appointment to hold office until the Company’s next AGM.
2.3

Remuneration policies and procedures
Its responsibilities include reviewing and recommending the remuneration structure and policy for Executive
Director and key management personnel based on individual performance and contribution. The remuneration
package should be sufficiently attractive and be able to retain the Executive and key management personnel
need to run the Company successfully. The members of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:Low Kim Leng (Chairman)		Independent Non-Executive Director
Seow Thiam Fatt		Independent Non-Executive Director
Ong Chooi Lee		Independent Non-Executive Director
Tan Fie Ping
Managing Director
The Directors’ fees are subject to the approval of shareholders at the Company’s Annual General Meeting
(AGM). The aggregate remuneration of Directors of the Company during the financial year are as follows:-

Company
Salaries & other
Emoluments
RM

Fees
RM

Total
RM

Salaries & other
Emoluments
RM

381,685

16,000

397,685

493,497

891,182

15,950

154,000

169,950

–

169,950

397,635

170,000

567,635

493,497

1,061,132

Executive
Directors
Non-Executive
Directors
Total

Range of remuneration per annum

*

Company and
Subsidiary

Subsidiary

Total
RM

Number of Directors
Executive

Non-Executive

Below RM50,000

–

6

RM 50,001- RM100,000

1

–

RM100,001- RM150,000

–

–

RM150,001- RM200,000

–

–

RM200,001- RM250,000

1

–

RM250,001- RM300,000

1

–

RM300,001- RM350,000

1

–

Included retired/resigned Directors
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Reinforce of Independence
3.1

Annual Assessment of Independence
The Board has conducted an assessment on the Independent Directors and the Independent Director who
exceeds cumulative term of nine years shall seek for shareholders’ approval in the Annual General Meeting
for continuity in serving the Board.
The Independent Directors play a crucial role in exercising independent judgment and objective participation
in the proceedings and decision making process of the Board. The Board is satisfied that the current Board
composition fairly reflects the interests of minority shareholders.

3.2

Tenure of Independent Directors
In line with the MCCG 2012, the tenure of an independent Director should not exceed a cumulative term of
nine years. However, an independent Director may continue to serve on the Board subject to the Director’s redesignation as a non-independent Director. In exceptional cases and subject to assessment by the Nomination
Committee, the Board may recommend for an independent Director who has served a consecutive or cumulative
term of nine years to remain as an independent Director subject to shareholders’ approval.

3.3

Separation of positions of the Chairman and Managing Director
There is a clear division of responsibilities at the head of the Group to ensure a balance of authority and
power. The Board is led by Mr Seow Thiam Fatt, an Independent Non-Executive Chairman and the executive
management of the Group is led by Mr Tan Fie Ping, the Managing Director.

3.4

Board Composition and Balance
In year 2012, the Board of Directors comprises six (7) Members, of whom three (3) are Executive Directors and
four (4) are Independent Non-Executive Directors. A brief profile of each Director is presented in this Annual
Report.
There is also balance in the Board with the presence of Independent Non-Executive Directors possessing
the calibre necessary to assist in Board decisions. The Board comprises professionals drawn from various
backgrounds in business, finance, technical and legal which relevant to the direction and objectives of the
Group.
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Foster Commitment
4.1

Time Commitment
Five (5) Board meetings were held during the financial year ended 31 December 2012. Set out below is the
record of attendance of the Board Member.
Directors

Designation

Attendance

Seow Thiam Fatt
(Appointed on 25 June 2012 and
re-designated to Chairman on
19 April 2013)

Independent Non-Executive Chairman

2/2

Tan Fie Ping

Managing Director

5/5

Toh Hong Chye

Executive Director

4/4

Tan Fie Jen

Executive Director

5/5

Low Kim Leng
(Appointed on 30 April 2012)

Independent Non-Executive Director

3/3

Ong Chooi Lee
(Appointed on 30 April 2012)

Independent Non-Executive Director

3/3

Tan Lay Beng

Independent Non-Executive Director

5/5

Lau Lee Cheng
(Resigned on 3 September 2012)

Executive Director

4/4

Azahar bin Baharudin
(Retired on 25 June 2012)

Independent Non-Executive Director

3/3

Winston Paul Wong Chi Huang
(Resigned on 30 April 2012)

Independent Non-Executive Director

2/2

The Board members are required to notify the Board’s Chairman prior to their acceptance of new directorships
in other companies.
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4.2

Directors’ training
The directors are aware of their duty to undergo appropriate trainings from time to time so as to ensure that they
are equipped to carry out their duties effectively. The following Directors have attended various trainings as a
continuous effort to enhance management skills. Stated below is the list of courses attended for the financial
year ended 31 December 2012:
Name of Directors

Name of courses

Date

Tan Fie Ping

Improve efficiency and minimize costs in the modern
warehouse

24 - 25 September 2012

Tan Fie Jen

Corporate Strategy Planning
Enterprise, Career and Business Continuity

26 - 27 July 2012
24 -25 November 2012

Toh Hong Chye

Mandatory Accreditation Programme (MAP) for Directors
of Public Listed Companies

16 - 17 May 2012

Low Kim Leng

Due to his heavy work load as an active practitioner of law in civil, commercial and
corporate matters, he had not attended any training course for the year.

Tan Lay Beng

IRB-CTIM roadshow: Enhancing Tax Compliance
Chairman cum panelist - IRB/CTIM roadshow
Managing tax controversies
National tax conference 2012
Transfer Pricing seminar 2012
Panelist - Seminar Percukaian Kebangsaan 2012
2013 Budget Seminar
Chairman – 2013 Budget Seminar
Corporate Governance Conference
Course for GST Agents

27 February 2012
5 March 2012
9 April 2012
17 & 18 July 2012
20 September 2012
9 October 2012
11 October 2012
17 October 2012
5 November 2012
August – October 2012

Ong Chooi Lee

Mandatory Accreditation Programme (MAP) for Directors
of Public Listed Companies
Bursa Malaysia ‘s Half Day Governance Programme

16 - 17 May 2012

FIDE - The Director’s Legal Tool Kit
FIDE - Nomination and Remuneration Committee
FIDE – Insurance Insights
Bursa Malaysia’s Governance Programme
The Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2012
(MCCG 2012)
Bursa Malaysia’s Seminar on Malaysian Budget 2013
IIAM National Conference - Rising Potential
Audit Committee Institute - Breakfast Roundtable
Bursa Malaysia’s Governance Programme - Understanding
Financial Statements - Use of Healthy Scepticisim
Audit Committee Institute – Breakfast Roundtable - Red
Flags; Indicators of Fraud; Audit Committee Oversight
Role on Financial Reporting – Aren’t the Numbers too
good to be true?
Bursa Malaysia’s Governance Programme – Managing
Corporate Risks and Achieving Internal Control through
Statutory Compliance

12 - 13 March 2012
4 - 5 April 2012
23 – 24 April 2012
22 May 2012
3 July 2012

Seow Thiam Fatt

3 October 2012

10 October 2012
22-23 October 2012
6 November 2012
3 December 2012
5 December 2012

5 December 2012

The Company Secretaries circulate the relevant guidelines on statutory and regulatory requirements from
time to time for the Board’s reference and brief the Board quarterly on these updates at Board meetings.
The External Auditors also briefed the Board members on any changes to the Malaysian Financial Reporting
Standards that affect the Group’s financial statements during the year.
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Uphold integrity in financial reporting
5.1

Compliance with applicable financial reporting standards
The Board strives to provide and present a balanced and meaningful assessment of the Group’s financial
performance and prospects for every financial year, primarily through the annual financial statements, quarterly
announcements of results to shareholders, as well as the Chairman’s Statement and Business Operations
Review in the annual report. The Board is assisted by the Audit and Risk Management Committee to oversee
the Group’s financial reporting processes and the quality of its financial reporting.

5.2

Assessment of sustainability and independence of external auditors
The Board ensures that there are formal and transparent arrangements for the achievement of objectives and
maintenance of professional relationship with external auditors. The external auditors have full access to the
books and records of the Group at all times.
From time to time, the external auditors highlight and update the Board and Audit and Risk Management
Committee on matters that require their attention.
The Group has in place the policies covering the provision of non-audit services, which are designed to ensure
that such services do not impair the external auditors’ independence or objectivity. The external auditors provide
mainly audit-related services to the Company. Due to the strong knowledge of the Company, the external
auditors also undertake certain non-audit services such as interim reviews, regulatory reviews and reporting,
and other services.

Recognise and manage risks
6.1

Sound framework to manage risks
The Board has ultimate responsibility for reviewing the Company’s risks, approving the risk management
framework and policy and overseeing the Company’s strategic risk management and internal control framework.
The Company has in place an on-going process for identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks that
may affect the achievement of the business objectives of the Group. The Board through the Audit and Risk
Management Committee reviews the key risks identified on a regular basis to ensure proper management of
erisks and that measures are taken to mitigate any weaknesses in the control environment.
The Board has merged the Audit Committee with Risk Management and has been renamed as Audit and Risk
Management Committee. The Audit and Risk Management Committee consists all of non-executive Directors,
majority of Independent and number at least three (3) in total. The Audit and Risk Management Committee
works closely with the external and internal auditors and maintains a transparent professional relationship with
them. The composition, term of reference, duties and responsibilities and other information of Audit and Risk
Management Committee are set out on pages 23 to 26 in this Annual Report.
During the financial year under review, the amount of non-audit fees paid out or payable to the external auditors
of the Group is RM15,500.

6.2

Internal audit function
The Board has established an internal audit function within the Company, which is led by the in-house Internal
Auditor who works together with an out-sourced Internal Auditor, S F Chang Corporate Services Sdn Bhd who
reports directly to the Audit and Risk Management Committee.
Details of the Company’s internal control system and framework as set out in the Statement on Risk Management
and Internal Control together with Audit and Risk Management Committee Report of this annual report.
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Ensure timely and high quality disclosure
7.1

Corporate Disclosure Policy
Information Disclosure
The Board has in place a policy to ensure disclosure of information is in accordance with the disclosure
requirements under the Listing Requirements and other applicable laws.

7.2

Leverage on information technology for effective dissemination of information
Investor Relations
The Investor Relations Policy was reviewed and revised by the Board regularly and is designed to be both
proactive and interactive and is driven by the following principles:•
•
•
•
•
•

To report its financial results and material developments to Bursa Securities, it shareholders and other
stakeholders;
Communicate only through its designated spokespersons;
Use its website as an additional primary communication channel;
Address reports and rumours (as queried by Bursa Securities) so as to avoid unnecessary speculations
in its securities;
Reasonable access to analysts and the media to help them have informed opinions of the Company,
but will not seek to influence those opinions; and
Endeavour to meet with its major shareholders at least once in each fiscal year as part of its on-going
programme to inform and obtain feedback on the Company.

While the Company endeavours to provide as much information as possible to its shareholders and stakeholders,
it is also be wary of the legal and regulatory framework governing the release of material and price-sensitive
information. The Company takes into account the prevailing legislative restrictions and requirements as well
as the investors’ needs for timely release of price sensitive information such as financial performance results
and statements, material acquisitions, significant corporate proposals as well as other significant corporate
events when releasing such information.
Shareholders and other interested parties may contact the Managing Director, to address any concerns by
writing or via telephone or facsimile as follows::
Address
			
			
			
:
Email		
:
Tel		
Fax		
:

Sersol Berhad
Unit A-3-2, Level 3, 157, Hampshire Business Suite
Jalan Mayang Sari
50450 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia.
ssms@sersoltech.com
03-2162 6388
03-2163 6188
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Strengthen relationship between Company and shareholders
8.1

Encourage shareholder participation at general meetings
It has also been the Company’s practice to send the Notice of the AGM and related papers to shareholders at
least twenty-one (21) clear days before the meeting. The date, venue and time of these meetings are determined
to provide the maximum opportunity for as many shareholders as possible to attend and participate either in
person, by corporate representative or by proxy.

8.2

Effective Communication and Proactive Engagement
The Annual General Meeting (AGM) is the principal forum for dialogue with individual shareholders and
investors. Shareholders are given opportunity to seek clarification on any matter pertaining to the business
activities and financial performance.
The Group recognizes the importance of keeping shareholders and investors informed of the Group’s business
and corporate developments. Such information is disseminated via the Group’s annual report, circulars to
shareholders, quarterly financial results and the various announcements made from time to time. The Group’s
website is www.sersol.com.my and shareholders as well as members of the public are invited to access for
the latest information of the Group.
The Group has established a Corporate Disclosure Policy to ensure clear, accurate and complete disclosures
of material information to public investors.
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Report Of Audit And
Risk Management Committee
Member and Attendance
The Audit and Risk Management Committee comprises the following members and details of attendance at meetings
held during the financial year ended 31 December 2012 are as follows :Member

Designation

Attendance

Seow Thiam Fatt (Chairman)
(Appointed on 25 June 2012)

Independent Non-Executive Director

2/2

Low Kim Leng
(Appointed on 30 April 2012)

Independent Non-Executive Director

3/3

Ong Chooi Lee
(Appointed on 30 April 2012)

Independent Non-Executive Director

3/3

Tan Lay Beng

Independent Non-Executive Director

6/6

TERMS OF REFERENCE
Composition
The Committee shall be appointed from amongst the Board and shall comprise at least three (3) members, all must
be Non-Executive Directors with a majority of whom shall be Independent Directors.
At least one member of the audit and risk management committee:(i)

must be a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants; or

(ii)

if he/she is not a member of the Malaysia Institute of Accountants, he must have at least 3 years’ working
experience and-

(iii)

a.

he/she must have passed the examinations specified in Part I of the First Schedule of the Accountants
Act 1967; or

b.

he/she must be a member of one of the associations of accountants specified in Part II of the First
Schedule of the Accountants Act 1967; or

fulfils such other requirements as prescribed or approved by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa
Securities”).

No Alternate Director shall be appointed as a member of the Committee. In the event of any vacancy with the result
that the number of members is reduced to below three, the vacancy must be filled within 3 months.
The Board of Directors must review the term of office and performance of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
and each of its members at least once every 3 years to determine whether the Audit and Risk Management Committee
and members have carried out their duties in accordance with the terms of reference.
Chairman of Audit and Risk Management Committee
The Chairman, who shall be elected by the Audit and Risk Management Committee, must be an Independent NonExecutive Director appointed by the Board. In the absence of the Chairman, the members present shall elect a
Chairman for the meeting from amongst themselves.
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Secretary
The Company Secretary shall be the Secretary of the Committee and shall be responsible, in conjunction with the
Chairman, for drawing up the agenda and circulating it prior to each meeting.
The Secretary shall also be responsible for keeping the minutes of meetings of the Committee and circulating them
to the Committee Members.
Meeting
Meetings shall be held not less than four (4) times a year. The quorum for a meeting shall be two (2) members,
provided that the majority of members present at the meeting shall be Independent Directors.
The Committee may conduct its meeting to include participation thereat by any member or invitee via video or
teleconferencing or any other means of audio or audio – visual communications.
All resolutions of the Committee shall be adopted by a simple majority vote, each member having one vote. In case
of equality of votes, the Chairman of the meeting shall have a second or casting vote.
The external auditors have the right to appear at any meeting of the Audit and Risk Management Committee and
shall appear before the Committee when required to do so by the Committee. The external auditors may also request
a meeting if they consider it necessary. However, at least twice a year, the Committee shall meet with the external
and/or internal auditors without any Executive Board members and employees present.
A resolution in writing, signed by all the members of the Committee, shall be as effectual as if it has been passed at
a meeting of the Committee duly convened and held.
Rights
The Audit and Risk Management Committee shall:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.
g.

have explicit authority to investigate any matter within its terms of reference;
have to resources which it needs to perform its duties;
have full and unrestricted access to any information which it requires in the course of performing its duties;
have unrestricted access to the chief executive officer and the chide financial officer;
have direct communication channels with the external auditors and internal auditors (if any);
be to obtain independent professional or other advice in the performance of its duties at the cost of the Company;
and
be able to invite outsiders with relevant experience to attend its meetings if necessary.

Duties
The duties and responsibilities of the Audit and Risk Management Committee shall include the following:
Financial Reporting and Compliance
Review Financial Statements:
i)

Monitor and review with appropriate officers of the Group and the external auditors, the annual, interim
and any other related formal financial statements and announcements of the Group prior to approval of
the Board and public release.

ii)

Discuss among the Committee members, without the presence of the Management or the external
auditors if deemed necessary, the financial information obtained.

iii)

Discuss the impact of any proposed changes in accounting principles on future financial statements.
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Review Other Accounting, Audit and Financial Matters: Review such other matters in relation to the accounting,
auditing and financial reporting practices and procedures of the Group.
Review Related Party Transactions, if any: Review material related party transaction and conflict of interest
situations that may arise within the Group including transaction, procedure or cause of conduct that raises question
of management integrity and recurrent related party transactions
Risk Management and Internal Control
Review Systems of Risk Management: Review the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management process to
identify key organisational risks and the systems or processes in place to monitor and manage these risks.
Review Systems of Internal Controls: Review the effectiveness, adequacy and integrity of the Group’s internal
controls including information technology security and control and to assist management in setting up the appropriate
procedures and internal controls.
Review Systems and/or Processes to manage fraud: Review the procedures in place by management to prevent
and detect fraud including cyber fraud.
Review Statement on Internal Control: Review with the external auditors, the Group’s Statement on Internal Control
for inclusion in the Annual Report, where applicable.
Internal Audit
Review of the Internal Audit Function: Review the internal audit department to ensure its activities are performed
independently and due professional care.
Review Internal Audit Plans: Review, evaluate and approve the plans for and adequacy of the scope of their audit
activities/programmes including the adequacy of competency and resources to carry out its function and to monitor
the implementation of the internal audit activities/programmes to ensure sufficient scope is covered during the audit.
Review Internal Audit Reports: Review with members of senior management of the Group, any periodic reports of
the audit activities, key findings and recommendations as well as the recommended course of actions to be taken
by the management, management’s response to the recommendations and ensure that appropriate action is taken
on their recommendations.
Review Internal Audit Function: Monitor effectiveness and review the performance of members of the internal audit
function and provide appraisals of their performance.
External Audit
Nomination, Resignation and Dismissal of External Auditors: Recommend to the Board annually and at other
appropriate times, and through the Chairman, to the shareholders for approval at the annual general meeting, the
firm to be retained or re-appointed as the Group’s external auditors, the terms of engagement and remuneration.
Review suitability and Independence of External Auditors: Review the information provided by management and
the external auditors relating to the independence of such firm, including whether they are comply with Malaysian
regulations and ethical guidance relating to rotation of audit partner, the level of fees that the Group pays in proportion
to the overall fee income of the firm. Assure that representatives of the external audit firm have no family, financial,
employment or any other business relationship with the Group.
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The Committee shall ensure that the provision of non-audit services by the external auditor comply with the policy
on the provision of non-audit services by the external auditor to ensure that the objectivity and independence of the
audit firm are not impaired
Review External Audit Plans: Review, in consultation with the external auditors their plans for, and the scope and
cost effectiveness of their annual audit and other examinations, prior to the commencement of such activities.
Conduct of External Audits: Review the assistance given by the Group and the Group’s employees to the external
auditors and ensure co-ordination where more than one (1) audit firm is involved and between the external and
internal auditors.
Review the External Auditors’ representations on their Quality Control Procedures and steps taken by the auditor to
respond to changes in regulatory and other requisite requirements.
Review External Audit Results: Review with the external auditors, their findings and the report of their annual audit,
or proposed report of their annual audit, the accompanying management letter and response, the report of their
reviews of the Group’s interim financials, and the problems and reservations arising, including significant audit
adjustments, if any.
Review Recommendations of External Audit: Review the recommendations made by the external auditors and
such other matters including recommending the appropriate course of action to be taken by the management and
monitoring the implementation of the course of action
Share Schemes
Verify shares and/or share options allocated: Review the verification on the allocation of shares or share options to
the Group’s eligible employees and eligible executives in accordance with allocation criteria established pursuant to
the by-laws governing the relevant share scheme, on a quarterly basis, where applicable.
Whistleblowing
Review the procedures that the Group has implemented to address allegations made by whistleblowers, to ensure
that there is proportionate and independent investigation of such allegations and that appropriate follow-up action
is taken and brought to the attention of the Committee, where necessary.
Coordination
Ensure appropriate coordination between the audit plans of the Company’s external auditors and the scope of the
Group’s internal audit programme.
Activities
During the financial year, the Audit and Risk Management Committee has conducted its activities in accordance with
its existing Terms of Reference, which include:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)

Quarterly meetings to review the quarterly results.
Discussed with the management on the business performance.
Reviewed Risk Management reports and Internal Audit reports with Internal Auditors to assess the effectiveness
of the system of internal controls in the areas audited.
Discussed the annual audited financial statements with the external auditors as well as their findings and
recommendations.
Reviewed and considered any related party transaction that may or have arisen within the Group.
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Additional Listing Requirements
Compliance Information
To comply with the Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities, the following additional information is provided:

UTILISATION OF PROCEEDS
1.

Proposed Special Bumiputera Issue
The Company has successfully placed out 1,420,000 new ordinary shares of RM0.10 each (SerSol Shares)
at RM0.25 per share to the Bumiputera Investors identified by the Ministry of International Trade and Industry
(MITI).
The proceeds raised from the above 1,420,000 new SerSol Shares at RM0.25 per share of RM355,000 have
been fully utilised for working capital and fee for Proposed Special Bumiputera Issue.

2.

Proposed Rights Issue of Shares with Warrants
The Company has successfully undertaken the proposed Renounceable rights issue of up to 96,351,000 new
ordinary shares of RM0.10 each in SerSol (“SerSol Shares” or “Shares”) (“Rights Shares”), together with up
to 96,351,000 free detachable new warrants (“Warrants”) on the basis of one (1) Rights Share together with
one (1) Warrant for every one (1) existing SerSol Share.
The utilisation of proceeds raised from the above is as follows :					 Proposed
Purpose				Utilisation
					RM’000
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)
iv)

Actual
Utilisation
RM’000

Research & development				
Purchase of plant and machinery			
Repayment of bank borrowings			
Working capital 				
Defray estimated expenses				

900
500
2,500
5,235
500

–
–
–
–
422

Total				

9,635

422

SHARE BUYBACKS
There were no share buy backs during the financial year ended 31 December 2012.

OPTIONS, WARRANTS OR CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES EXERCISED
The Company has not issued any options, warrants or convertible securities in respect of the financial year ended
31 December 2012.

AMERICAN DEPOSITORY RECEIPT (“ADR”) OR GLOBAL DEPOSITORY RECEIPT (“GDR”)
The Company has not sponsored any ADR or GDR programme for the financial year ended 31 December 2012.
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SANCTIONS AND / OR PENALTIES
The Company and its subsidiaries, Directors and management have not been imposed with any sanctions and/or
penalties by any regulatory bodies.

PROFIT ESTIMATE, FORECAST OR PROJECTION
The Company did not release any profit estimate, forecast or projection for the financial year ended 31 December 2012.

PROFIT GUARANTEE
No profit guarantee was given by the Company in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2012.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS
There were no material contracts by the Company and its subsidiaries involving Directors’ and major shareholders’
interest.

REVALUATION OF LANDED PROPERTIES
The Group has revalued its land and buildings and this represents a change in the measurement of the land and
buildings from the cost model to revaluation model. Total gross upward revaluation is approximately RM4.894 million
and the net upward revaluation is approximately RM4.149 million (net of deferred tax liability).

CONTRACT RELATED TO LOAN BY THE COMPANY
There were no contracts relating to loan by the Company.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
The Group emphasize on quality work environment by adopting strict health and safety measures where safety values
are inculcated into the staff force as part of their work ethics. Emergency Response Team has been established and
conducts regular Fire Drill to ensure all employees receive proper trainings.
The Group is committed to identify, manage and minimize the environmental impact of business operations which
aims to reduce consumption of non-renewable, non-recycled material, encourage the use of renewable resources
and minimize the level of pollutants entering into the air and water from daily business operations. The Company
and its subsidiaries also play a part in the conservation of the environment by promoting paperless culture whereby
using software systems, for example, E-Document System and ERP (Enterprise Resources Planning) System to
store the documents and information without having to print hardcopies.

EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company had on 13 May 2013 implemented share issuance scheme (SIS) of up to thirty percent (30%) of the
issued and paid-up share capital of SerSol (excluding treasury shares) at any point in time for the eligible directors
and employees of SerSol and its subsidiaries (SerSol Group or Group) (Proposed SIS).
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Statement On Risk Management
And Internal Control
INTRODUCTION
The Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance (“the Code”) requires that the Board of a listed company should
maintain a sound system of internal control to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets.
This statement of internal control has been prepared pursuant to paragraph 15.26 (b) of the Listing Requirements
of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) for ACE Market.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES
The Board of Sersol Berhad (“SB”) recognises the importance of a sound system of internal controls and risk
management framework and is dedicated to affirm its overall responsibility for the group’s system of internal controls.
The Board’s responsibility includes the establishment of appropriate control environment and framework and at
the same time conduct review on its adequacy, integrity and effectiveness of the Group’s internal control systems
and management information systems, including systems for compliance with applicable laws, regulations, rules,
directives and guidelines.
Nevertheless, the Board is aware that the internal control established can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss, as it is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure
to achieve business objective. The Board has established appropriate control structure and process for identifying,
evaluating, monitoring, and managing significant risks that may affect the achievement of business objectives.
The control structure and process are updated and reviewed from time to time to suit the changes in the business
environment.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
The Board is aware that an effective risk management system is an integral part of the daily operations of the Group.
In this regards, the management of SB has embedded risk management as part of its business practice to ensure
that the Group’s assets are well-protected and shareholders’ value enhanced.
Internal audit function, with the assistance of management responsible of implementing and maintaining the appropriate
risk management framework to achieve the following objectives:-

Communicate the vision, role, direction and priorities to all employees and key stakeholders.
Ensuring that key risks to the Group’s business are identified and evaluated, and responses are developed to
mitigate these risks.
Create a risk-aware culture and building the necessary knowledge for risk management at every level of
management.

In order to achieve the above objectives, the Group has adopted a structured and systematic risk assessment,
monitoring and reporting framework. The Group also fostered a culture of continuous improvement in risk management
through risk review meetings.
The internal control environment and processes are periodically reviewed by internal audit function who report
accordingly to the Audit Committee to ensure the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control procedures
throughout the Group. The cost incurred in respect of risk management and internal audit functions for the financial
year ended 31 December 2012 amounted to RM25,657 which includes staff salary and the relevant fees payable to
the outsourced Internal Auditors, S F Chang Corporate Services Sdn Bhd.
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OTHER KEY ELEMENTS OF INTERNAL CONTROL
In addition to the above, other key elements of internal control are as follows:
-

-

Clearly defined lines of reporting, responsibilities and delegation of authority within Group.
Internal control policies, manuals, procedures and work instruction are documented based on the guidelines of
the International Organization for Standardization (“ISO”) accreditation programme. Furthermore, ISO audits
are conducted internally by an in-house committee established and by external parties during the financial
year.
Regular management meetings are held where information covering operational performances is reviewed.
Regular training programs are being attended by employees with the objective of enhancing their knowledge
and competency.

ASSURANCE FROM MANAGEMENT
The Board has also received reasonable assurance from the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and the Chief Financial
Officer (“CFO”) that the Group’s risk management and internal control system are operating adequately and effectively,
in all material respects.

REVIEW OF THIS STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS
Pursuant to Rule 15.23 of the Bursa Securities ACE Market Listing Requirements, the External Auditors have reviewed
this Statement and have reported to the Board that nothing had come to their attention that causes them to believe
that this Statement in inconsistent with their understanding of the process adopted by the Board in reviewing the
adequacy and integrity of the system of internal control of SB Group.

CONCLUSION
The Board is pleased to report there were no material losses incurred during the financial year under review as a
result of weaknesses or deficiencies in internal control.
The Board is committed towards maintaining a sound system of internal controls throughout the Group. The Board
recognizes the fact that the system of internal controls and risk management practice should evolve with the ever
changing and challenging business environment in order to support the Group’s operation. The Board will put in
place appropriate action plans to rectify potential weaknesses and improve the system of internal control as when
is necessary.
The Board is of the opinion that based on the current level of activities, the Group’s system of internal control is
adequate and is in accordance with provisions set out in the Code.
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Statement Of Directors’ Responsibility
In respect of the Audited Financial Statements

Directors are legally required to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company at the end of the financial year and of the results of the Group
and of the Company for the financial year then ended.
In preparing those financial statements, the Directors of the Company have:
•
•
•
•

adopted suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently;
made judgments and estimates that are prudent and reasonable;
ensured applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed
and explained in the financial statements; and
prepared the financial statement on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the
Group and the Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial position of the Group and of the Company and to enable them to ensure that the financial
statements comply with the Companies Act. 1965 and applicable approved accounting standards. The Directors
are also responsible for the assets of the Group and of the Company and, hence, for taking reasonable steps for
the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
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Directors’ Report

The Directors hereby present their report together with the audited financial statements of the Group and of the
Company for the financial year ended 31 December 2012.

Principal Activities
The principal activities of the Company consist of the provision of management services and investment holding.
The principal activities of the subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements.
There have been no significant changes in the nature of these activities during the financial year.

Financial Results
				
Group
Company
				RM	RM
Loss for the financial year				

(4,374,831)

(1,437,480)

Attributable to :
Owners of the Company				
Non-controlling interests				

(4,424,081)
49,250

(1,437,480)
–

				

(4,374,831)

(1,437,480)

Change of Name
The Company changed its name from SerSol Technologies Berhad to SerSol Berhad on 26 February 2013.

Dividends
There were no dividends proposed, declared or paid by the Company since the end of the previous financial year.

Reserves and Provisions
There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than as disclosed
in the financial statements.

Issue of Shares and Debentures
During the financial year, the Company increased its authorised share capital from RM10,000,000 to RM25,000,000
through the creation of 150,000,000 ordinary shares of RM0.10 each. In addition, the Company also increased its
issued ordinary shares from RM9,493,100 to RM9,635,100 through the creation of 1,420,000 ordinary shares of
RM0.10 each for a total cash consideration of RM355,000 for working capital purposes. The resulting premium has
been credited to the share premium account.The new ordinary shares issued during the financial year ranked pari
passu in all respects with the existing ordinary shares of the Company.
There were no issues of debentures during the financial year.
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Options Granted Over Unissued Shares
No options were granted to any person to take up unissued shares of the Company during the financial year.

Directors
The Directors in office since the date of last report are:
Tan Fie Jen
Tan Fie Ping
Tan Lay Beng
Toh Hong Chye 			
Low Kim Leng 		(appointed on 30.4.2012)
Ong Chooi Lee		(appointed on 30.4.2012)
Seow Thiam Fatt		(appointed on 25.6.2012)
Winston Paul Wong Chi Huang
(resigned on 30.4.2012)
Azahar Bin Baharudin
(retired on 25.6.2012)
Lau Lee Cheng
(resigned on 3.9.2012)

Directors’ Interests
The interests and deemed interests in the shares and options over shares of the Company and of its related
corporations (other than wholly-owned subsidiaries) of those who were Directors at year end (including their spouses
or children) according to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings are as follows:
<------------- No. of ordinary shares of RM0.10 each ------------->
		
At			
At
		
1.1.2012
Bought
Sold
31.12.2012
Interests in the Company
Direct interests
Tan Fie Jen		
Tan Fie Ping		
Toh Hong Chye
Ong Chooi Lee		

372,824
547,448
–
–

–
–
5,000,000
3,000,000

–
(547,448)
–
–

372,824
–
5,000,000
3,000,000

Indirect interests
Tan Fie Jen *		
Tan Fie Ping #		

50,328,949
50,328,949

–
–

(10,028,000)
(9,198,000)

40,300,949
41,130,949

*

Deemed interest in shares held by SerSol Holdings Sdn Bhd and Consolingrow Sdn Bhd pursuant to Section
6A of the Companies Act, 1965.

#

Deemed interested by virtue of spouse’s shareholdings and shares held by SerSol Holdings Sdn Bhd and
Consolingrow Sdn Bhd pursuant to Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.

By virtue of their interests in the shares of the Company, Mr. Tan Fie Jen and Mr. Tan Fie Ping are also deemed
interested in the shares of all the subsidiaries during the financial year to the extent that the Company has an interest
under Section 6A of the Companies Act, 1965.
None of the other Directors in office at the end of the financial year had any interest in shares in the Company or its
related corporations during the financial year.
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Directors’ Benefits
Since the end of the previous financial year, no Director of the Company has received or become entitled to receive
any benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of emoluments received or due and receivable by
Directors as shown in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the Company or a related corporations
with the Director or with a firm of which the Director is a member, or with a company in which the Director has a
substantial financial interest.
Neither during nor at the end of the financial year, was the Company a party to any arrangement the object of which
is to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
or any other body corporate.

Other Statutory Information
(a)

(b)

(c)

Before the statements of comprehensive income and statements of financial position of the Group and the
Company were made out, the Directors took reasonable steps:
(i)

to ascertain that action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of
provision for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and
that adequate provision had been made for doubtful debts was required; and

(ii)

to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business
including their values as shown in the accounting records of the Group and of the Company have been
written down to an amount which they might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the Directors are not aware of any circumstances :
(i)

which would render the amounts written off for bad debts or the amount of the provision for doubtful debts
in the financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; or

(ii)

which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and
of the Company misleading; or

(iii)

which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities
of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate; and

(iv)

not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements which would render any amount stated
in the financial statements misleading.

At the date of this report, there does not exist:
(i)

any charge on the assets of the Group and the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial
year which secures the liabilities of any other person; and

(ii)

any contingent liability in respect of the Group and the Company which has arisen since the end of the
financial year.
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Other Statutory Information (Cont’d)
(d)

In the opinion of the Directors:
(i)

no contingent liability or other liability has become enforceable or is likely to become enforceable within
the period of twelve months after the end of the financial year which will or may affect the ability of the
Group and of the Company to meet its obligations as and when they fall due; or

(ii)

the results of operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial year were not substantially
affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature; and

(iii)

there has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report any
item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely to affect substantially the results of the
operations of the Group and of the Company for the current financial year in which this report is made.

Significant Events
The significant events are disclosed in Note 33 to the financial statements.

Subsequent Events
The subsequent events are disclosed in Note 34 to the financial statements.

Auditors
The auditors, Messrs UHY, have expressed their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 19 April 2013.

TAN FIE PING

TOH HONG CHYE
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Pursuant to Section 169 (15) of the Companies Act, 1965

We, the undersigned, being two of the Directors of SERSOL BERHAD (formerly known as SerSol Technologies
Berhad), do hereby state that, in the opinion of the Directors, the financial statements set out on pages 40 to 113 are
drawn up in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards
and the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group
and of the Company as of 31 December 2012 and of their financial performance and the cash flows for the financial
year then ended.
The supplementary information set out in page 114 have been compiled in accordance with Guidance on Special
Matter No.1, Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and
the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors in accordance with a resolution of the Directors dated 19 April 2013.

TOH HONG CHYE

TAN FIE PING

Statutory Declaration

Pursuant to Section 169 (16) of the Companies Act, 1965

I, TOH HONG CHYE, being the Director primarily responsible for the financial management of SERSOL BERHAD
(formerly known as SerSol Technologies Berhad), do solemnly and sincerely declare that the financial statements
set out on pages 40 to 113 are to the best of my knowledge and belief, correct and I make this solemn declaration
conscientiously believing the same to be true and by virtue of the provisions of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.
Subscribed and solemnly declared by the
abovenamed TOH HONG CHYE at
KUALA LUMPUR in the Federal Territory
on 19 April 2013

)
)
)
)
TOH HONG CHYE

Before me,
LEONG CHIEW KEONG (W 409)

COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS
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Independent Auditors’ Report
To the members of Sersol Berhad
(Formerly known as Sersol Technologies Berhad)
Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the financial statements of Sersol Berhad (formerly known as SerSol Technologies Berhad),
which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2012 of the Group and of the Company,
and the statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows of the
Group and of the Company for the financial year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and
other explanatory information, as set out on pages 40 to 113.
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of financial statements so as to give a true and
fair view in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards
and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. The directors are also responsible for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements
are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on our judgement, including the assessment of risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, we
consider internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the
Company as of 31 December 2012 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the financial year then
ended in accordance with Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards
and the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia, we also report the followings:
(a)

In our opinion, the accounting and other records and the registers required by the Act to be kept by the
Company and its subsidiaries of which we have acted as auditors have been properly kept in accordance with
the provisions of the Act.

(b)

We have considered the accounts and the auditors’ reports of all the subsidiaries of which we have not acted
as auditors, as disclosed in Note 5 to the financial statements.

(c)

We are satisfied that the accounts of the subsidiaries that have been consolidated with the Company’s financial
statements are in form and content appropriate and proper for the purposes of the preparation of the financial
statements of the Group and we have received satisfactory information and explanations required by us for
those purposes.

(d)

The audit reports on the accounts of the subsidiaries did not contain any qualification or any adverse comment
made under Section 174 (3) of the Act.
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To the members of Sersol Berhad
(Formerly known as Sersol Technologies Berhad)
Other Reporting Responsibilities
The supplementary information set out on page 114 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The Directors are responsible for the preparation of
the supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1, Determination of Realised
and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing
Requirements, as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Other Matters
1.

As stated in Note 2(a) to the financial statements, SerSol Berhad (formerly known as SerSol Technologies
Berhad) adopted Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards on 1 January 2012 with a transition date of 1
January 2011. These standards were applied retrospectively by directors to the comparative information in
these financial statements, including the statements of financial position as at 31 December 2011 and 1 January
2011 and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2011 and related disclosures. We were not engaged to report on the restated
comparative information and it is unaudited. Our responsibilities as part of our audit of the financial statements
of the Group and the Company for the year ended 31 December 2012 have, in these circumstances, included
obtaining sufficient appropriate audit evidence that the opening balances as at 1 January 2012 do not contain
misstatements that materially affect the financial position as of 31 December 2012 and financial performance
and cash flows for the year then ended.

2.

This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 174 of the
Companies Act 1965 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other
person for the content of this report.

UHY
Firm Number: AF 1411
Chartered Accountants

STEPHEN WAN YENG LEONG
Approved Number: 2963/07/13 (J)
Chartered Accountant
KUALA LUMPUR
19 April 2013

6,788,596
–
257,453
–
132,414
7,178,463

99,759
4,475,582
6,605,312
1,158,773
–
58,527
58,924
183,662
–
1,270,441
13,910,980
21,089,443

9,067,382
–
–
–
–

		 9,067,382

–
2,205,841
3,136,101
308,675
–
–
172,953
125,144
191,000
670,449

Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment in subsidiaries
Investment in associate
Goodwill on consolidation
Development expenditure

Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
4
Inventories
9
10
Trade receivables
Other receivables
11
Amounts owing by subsidiaries
12
Amount owing by an associate
13
Tax recoverable		
Marketable securities
14
Fixed deposit with licensed bank
15
Cash and bank balances		

		 6,810,163

Total Assets		 15,877,545

4
5
6
7
8

Group
31.12.2011
RM

		31.12.2012
Note
RM

22,953,735

14,726,576

–
4,515,074
7,175,977
1,232,038
–
237,529
93,485
421,573
–
1,050,900

8,227,159

7,733,769
–
196,572
–
296,818

1.1.2011
RM

8,568,961

1,449,102

–
–
–
13,338
1,404,977
–
15,000
–
–
15,787

7,119,859

–
7,119,859
–
–
–

31.12.2012
RM

9,697,617

2,026,922

–
–
–
1,000
1,942,905
–
32,432
29,570
–
21,015

7,670,695

148,990
7,371,705
150,000
–
–

Company
31.12.2011
RM

11,189,520

2,362,626

–
–
–
5,918
2,072,156
–
32,432
59,557
–
192,563

8,826,894

161,337
8,515,557
150,000
–
–

1.1.2011
RM
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9,630,481

		

1,361,228

3,412,975
1,225,022
1,112
169,918
5,514,567
10,323,594
11,684,822
21,089,443

		 1,161,271

2,088,729
625,760
–
114,982
2,256,322

		 5,085,793
6,247,064

Current Liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables
Amount owing to an associate
Hire purchase payables
Loans and borrowings

Total Liabilities		

Total Equity and Liabilities		 15,877,545

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

21
22
13
18
19

580,756
290,152
490,320

9,404,621

9,693,785
(289,164)

9,493,100
200,685

Group
31.12.2011
RM

211,279
144,592
805,400

18
19
20

9,665,598
(35,117)

Equity attributable to
owners of the parent		
Non-controlling interests		

Non-Current Liabilities
Hire purchase payables
Loans and borrowings
Deferred tax liabilities

9,635,100
30,498

16
17

Equity
Share capital
Reserve

		31.12.2012
Note
RM

22,953,735

11,104,089

9,785,885

4,306,034
1,298,039
274,416
132,186
3,775,210

1,318,204

357,419
417,499
543,286

11,849,646

11,271,257
578,389

9,493,100
1,778,157

1.1.2011
RM

8,568,961

46,911

46,911

–
46,911
–
–
–

–

–
–
–

8,522,050

8,522,050
–

9,635,100
(1,113,050)

31.12.2012
RM

9,697,617

93,087

93,087

–
93,087
–
–
–

–

–
–
–

9,604,530

9,604,530
–

9,493,100
111,430

Company
31.12.2011
RM

11,189,520

104,261

104,261

–
104,261
–
–
–

–

–
–
–

11,085,259

11,085,259
–

9,493,100
1,592,159

1.1.2011
RM
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Group
		
2012
Note
RM

Company
2011
RM

2012
RM

2011
RM

278,394
–

1,079,940
–

Revenue
23
Cost of sales		

17,960,347
(14,165,761)

30,115,879
(23,372,075)

Gross profit		
Other income		
Administrative expenses		
Selling and distribution expenses		
Other expenses		

3,794,586
407,260
(5,680,296)
(2,919,381)
(88,206)

6,743,804
341,737
(4,326,026)
(3,574,468)
(1,071,853)

278,394
211,162
(1,347,477)
–
(573,112)

1,079,940
–
(1,336,861)
–
(1,223,396)

Loss from operation		
Finance costs
24
Share of results of associates		

(4,486,037)
(261,690)
(512)

(1,886,806)
(409,266)
60,881

(1,431,033)
(334)
–

(1,480,317)
(412)
–

Loss before tax
Taxation

25
26

(4,748,239)
373,408

(2,235,191)
(163,061)

(1,431,367)
(6,113)

(1,480,729)
–

Loss for the financial year		

(4,374,831)

(2,398,252)

(1,437,480)

(1,480,729)

Other comprehensive income,
Exchange translation differences		
Revaluation of land and buildings		

95,716
4,149,975

(46,773)
–

–
–

–
–

Total other comprehensive
income for the financial year		

4,245,691

(46,773)

–

–

Total comprehensive income
for the financial year		

(129,140)

(2,445,025)

(1,437,480)

(1,480,729)

Loss for the financial year
attributable to :
Owners of the Company		
Non-controlling interests		

(4,424,081)
49,250

(1,554,426)
(843,826)

(1,437,480)
–

(1,480,729)
–

		

(4,374,831)

(2,398,252)

(1,437,480)

(1,480,729)

Total comprehensive income
attributable to :
Owners of the Company		
Non-controlling interests		

(383,187)
254,047

(1,577,472)
(867,553)

(1,437,480)
–

(1,480,729)
–

		

(129,140)

(2,445,025)

(1,437,480)

(1,480,729)

(4.60)
(4.60)

(1.64)
(1.64)

Loss per share
Basic earnings per share (sen)
Diluted earnings per share (sen)

28
28

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Distributable

–
–

–

–

–

Total other comprehensive
income
4,145,310

–

(4,665)

4,149,975

–
–

(109,081)

(109,081)

–

–

(57,299)
–

4,665

–

4,665

–

(3,280,403)
(4,424,081)

4,040,894

(109,081)

–

4,149,975

9,693,785
(4,424,081)

204,797

204,797

–

–

(289,164)
49,250

4,245,691

95,716

–

4,149,975

9,404,621
(4,374,831)

At 31 December 2012

9,635,100

3,751,387

4,145,310

(166,380)

(7,699,819)

9,665,598

(35,117)

9,630,481

Total comprehensive income
for the financial year
–
–
4,145,310
(109,081)
(4,419,416)
(383,187)
254,047
(129,140)
Issuance of shares,								 
representing total
transactions with owners
142,000
213,000
–
–
–
355,000
–
355,000

–

–

3,538,387
–

–

9,493,100
–

Revaluation of land
and buildings, net of
deferred tax
Realisation of revaluation
reserve
Foreign exchange
translation reserve

At 1 January 2012
Loss for the financial year

2012

				Foreign
				 Exchange			
NonShare
Share Revaluation Translation Accumulated		 controlling
Total
Group
Premium
Capital
Reserve
Reserve
Losses
Total
interests
equity
RM	RM	 RM	 RM	
RM	 RM	 RM	 RM

Non-distributable

Attributable to owners of the parent
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Distributable

–

–

9,493,100

Total comprehensive
income for the
financial year

At 31 December 2011

9,493,100
–

Foreign exchange
translation reserve,
representing total
other comprehensive
income for the
financial year

At 1 January 2011
Loss for the financial year

3,538,387

–

–

3,538,387
–

–

–

–

–
–

(57,299)

(23,046)

(23,046)

(34,253)
–

(3,280,403)

(1,554,426)

–

(1,725,977)
(1,554,426)

9,693,785

(1,577,472)

(23,046)

11,271,257
(1,554,426)

(289,164)

(867,553)

(23,727)

578,389
(843,826)

9,404,621

(2,445,025)

(46,773)

11,849,646
(2,398,252)

				Foreign
				 Exchange			
NonShare
Share Revaluation Translation Accumulated		 controlling
Total
Group
Premium
Capital
Reserve
Reserve
Losses
Total
interests
equity
RM	RM	 RM	 RM	
RM	 RM	 RM	 RM
2011

Non-distributable

Attributable to owners of the parent
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Non-distributable

Distributable

		
Share
Share
Accumulated
Total
Company		 Capital
Premium
Losses
equity
		
RM	RM	RM	RM
At 1 January 2012		

9,493,100

3,538,387

(3,426,957)

9,604,530

Loss for the financial year,
representing total
comprehensive income
for the financial year		

–

–

(1,437,480)

(1,437,480)

Issuance of shares,
representing total
transactions with owners		

142,000

213,000

At 31 December 2012		

9,635,100

3,751,387

(4,864,437)

8,522,050

At 1 January 2011		

9,493,100

3,538,387

(1,946,228)

11,085,259

Loss for the financial year,
representing total
comprehensive income
for the financial year		

–

–

(1,480,729)

(1,480,729)

At 31 December 2011		

9,493,100

3,538,387

(3,426,957)

9,604,530

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

–

355,000
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Group
		
2012
Note
RM
Cash flows from
operating activities
Loss before tax		

(4,748,239)

Adjustments for:
Amortisation of development
expenditure		
91,513
Bad debts recovered		
(3,369)
Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment		
2,074,825
Dividend income		
(5,996)
Fair value (gain)/loss on
marketable securities		
(82,857)
Loss/(gain) on disposal of:
- Marketable securities		
88,206
- Associate		
76,941
- Property, plant and equipment		
13,269
- Disposal of subsidiary		
(258,381)
Impairment loss on:
- Trade receivables		
–
- Amounts owing by subsidiaries		
–
- Investment in subsidiaries		
–
- Property, plant and equipment		
–
- Inventories		
30,641
216,868
Interest expenses		
(1,473)
Interest income		
Inventories written down		
–
Unrealised loss/(gain) on
foreign exchange		
8,209
Written off of:
- Property, plant and equipment		
629,787
- Development expenditure		
40,901
164,518
- Bad debts		
- Inventories		
16,992
Share of results of an associate		
512

Company
2011
RM

(2,235,191)

164,404
(8,565)
1,210,050
(8,033)

2012
RM

(1,431,367)

–
–

2011
RM

(1,480,729)

–
–

138,556
(1,454)

20,347
(1,467)

54,587

(50,635)

29,987

28,189
–
(69,201)
–

50,477
(30,000)
–
(1)

–
–
–
–

33,191
–
–
522,417
–
336,391
(1,155)
245,103

–
270,789
251,846
–
–
–
(64)
–

(97,680)

(63)

37,118
–
17,104
–
(60,881)

10,434
–
–
–
–

–
49,557
1,143,852
–
–
–
(225,574)
–
5,360
–
–
–
–
–
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Group
		
2012
Note
RM

Company
2011
RM

2012
RM

2011
RM

Operating (loss)/profit before
working capital changes		

(1,647,133)

167,848

(791,482)

(458,667)

Change in working capital:
Inventories		
Trade and other receivables		
Amounts owing by subsidiaries		
Amount owing by an associate		
Trade and other payables		

2,012,619
3,341,139
–
57,415
(248,955)

(205,611)
699,880
–
(94,302)
(966,076)

–
(12,338)
267,202
–
(46,176)

–
4,918
299,908
–
(11,174)

		

5,162,218

(566,109)

208,688

293,652

Cash generated from/(used in)
operations		

3,515,085

(398,261)

(582,794)

(165,015)

Interest paid		
Tax (paid)/refund		

(216,868)
(170,368)

(336,391)
(181,500)

–
11,320

–
–

		

(387,236)

(517,891)

11,320

–

Net cash from/(used in)
operating activities		

3,127,849

Cash Flows From
Investing Activities
Dividend received		
1,454
Interest received		
1,473
Net cash outflows from
disposal of subsidiary
5
(180,537)
Purchase of marketable
securities		
–
Purchase of property, plant
and equipment		
(529,956)
Proceeds from disposal
of an associate		
180,000
Proceeds from disposal of
marketable securities		
57,712
Proceeds from disposal
of property, plant and
equipment		
447,155
Net cash (used in)/from
investing activities		

(22,699)

(916,152)

(571,474)

(165,015)

3,682
1,155

1,454
64

1,467
–

–

–

–

(17,430)

–

–

(656,390)

–

(8,000)

–

180,000

–

176,916

29,728

–

223,108

–

–

(268,959)

211,246

(6,533)
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Group
		
2012
Note
RM
Cash Flows From
Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance
of shares		
355,000
Increase in fixed deposit pledged		
(191,000)
(Repayment)/drawdown
of bankers’ acceptance		
(2,472,027)
Repayment of hire
purchase payables		
(424,413)
Repayment of term loans		
(128,588)
Net cash (used in)/ from
financing activities 		
Net increase/(decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents		
Cash and cash equivalents at 		
beginning of the financial year		
Effect of changes in
exchange rates		
Cash and cash equivalents at
end of the financial year		

(2,861,028)

2012
RM

2011
RM

–
–

355,000
–

–
–

739,108

–

–

(148,931)
(159,431)

–
–

–
–

355,000

–

430,746

244,122

(754,365)

(5,228)

(171,548)

(225,868)

586,924

21,015

192,563

(40,924)

(58,427)

–

–

(22,670)

(225,868)

15,787

21,015

1,270,441

15,787

21,015

–

–

–

1,270,441

15,787

21,015

–
–

–
–

Cash and cash equivalents
at the end of the
financial year comprise:
Cash and bank balances		
670,449
Fixed deposits with
licensed banks		
191,000
		
861,449
Less: Fixed deposit pledged to
    licensed bank		
Bank overdrafts		

Company
2011
RM

(191,000)
(693,119)

–
(1,496,309)

			
(22,670)
(225,868)
15,787
21,015
					

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes To The Financial Statements

1.

Corporate Information
The Company is public company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Malaysia and is listed on
ACE Market of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
The registered office of the Company is located at Lot 6.05 Level 6, KPMG Tower, 8 First Avenue, Bandar
Utama, 47800 Petaling Jaya, Selangor.
The principal place of business of the Company is located at No. 28, Jalan Canggih 1, Taman Perindustrian
Cemerlang, 81800 Ulu Tiram, Johor Bahru.
The principal activities of the Company consist of the provision of management services and investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries are disclosed in Note 5. There have been no significant changes in
the nature of these activities of the Company and its subsidiaries during the financial year.

2.

Basis of Preparation
(a)

Statement of Compliance
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared on the historical
cost convention except as disclosed in the notes to the financial statements and in accordance with
Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (“MFRSs”), International Financial Reporting Standards and
the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.
In the previous years, the financial statements of the Group and the Company were prepared in accordance
with Financial Reporting Standards (“FRSs”). These are the Group’s and the Company’s first financial
statements prepared in accordance with MFRSs and MFRS 1, First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial
Reporting Standards has been applied.
The transition to MFRSs does not have financial impact to the financial statements of the Group and of
the Company.
The Group and the Company have not applied the following MFRSs that have been issued by the
Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) but are not yet effective for the Group and the Company:
Effective date for
financial periods
beginning on or after
Amendments to
MFRS 101
MFRS 10
MFRS 11
MFRS 12
MFRS 13
MFRS 119
MFRS 127
MFRS 128
IC Interpretation 20

Presentation of Items of Other
Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Financial Statements
Joint Arrangements
Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities
Fair Value Measurement
Employee Benefits
Separate Financial Statements
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
Stripping Costs in the Production Phase
of a Surface Mine
Government Loans

Amendments to
MFRS 1
			

1 July 2012
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
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2.

Basis of Preparation (cont’d)
(a)

Statement of Compliance (Cont’d)
Effective date for
financial periods
beginning on or after
Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets
Amendments to
MFRS 7
and Financial Liabilities
Amendments to
Consolidated Financial Statements,
MFRS 10, MFRS 11
Joint Arrangement and Disclosure of Interests
and MFRS 12
in Other Entities: Transition Guidance
Amendments to MFRSs contained in the document entitled
“Annual Improvements 2009 – 2011 Cycle”
Offsetting Financial Assets and
Amendments to
MFRS 132
Financial Liabilities
Investment Entity
Amendment to
MFRS 10
MFRS 9 (IFRS 9 as
Financial Instruments
issued by IASB
in November 2009)
MFRS 9 (IFRS 9 as
Financial Instruments
issued by IASB
in October 2010)

1 January 2013
1 January 2013

1 January 2013
1 January 2014
1 January 2014
1 January 2015

1 January 2015

The Group and the Company intend to adopt the above MFRSs when they become effective.
The initial application of the standards which will be applied prospectively or which requires extended
disclosures, is not expected to have any financial impacts to the current and prior period’s financial
statements upon the first adoption.
The possible financial impacts of initial application of MFRSs, which will be applied retrospectively is as
follows:
MFRS 9 Financial Instruments
MFRS 9 (IFRS 9 (2009)) replaces the guidance in MFRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement on classification and measurement of financial asset. MFRS 9 requires financial asset to
be measured at fair value or amortised cost. The classification depends on the entity’s business model
for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the instrument.
MFRS 9 (IFRS 9 (2010)) includes the requirements for the classification and measurement of financial
liabilities and for derecognition. Measurement for financial liability designated as at fair value through
profit or loss, requires the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability, that is attributable
to the change of credit risk of that liability, is presented in other comprehensive income, unless the
recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive income would
create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit or loss.
Under MFRS 139, the entire amount of the change in fair value of the financial liability designated as
fair value through profit or loss was presented in profit or loss.
The adoption of MFRS 9 will result in a change in accounting policy. The Group is currently examining
the financial impact of adopting MFRS 9.
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2.

Basis of Preparation (cont’d)
(a)

Statement of Compliance (Cont’d)
MFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements
MFRS 10 replaces all the guidance on control and consolidation in MFRS 127 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements and IC Interpretation 112 Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities.
MFRS 10 changes the definition of control. An investor controls an investee when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the investee. It establishes control as the basis for determining which entities are
consolidated in the consolidated financial statements and sets out the accounting requirements for the
preparation of consolidated financial statements.
The adoption of MFRS 10 may lead to consolidation of entities that were previously not included in the
Group. The Group is currently examining the financial impact of application of MFRS 10.
MFRS 11 Joint Arrangements
MFRS 11 replaces MFRS 131 Interest in Joint Ventures. MFRS 11 requires joint arrangement are
classified as joint operations or joint ventures, depending on the rights and obligations of the parties to
the arrangements. Interest in joint venture will be accounted for using the equity method whilst interest
in joint operation will be accounted for using the applicable MFRSs relating to the underlying assets,
liabilities, income and expense items arising from the joint operations.
The adoption of MFRS 11 will result in a change in accounting policy as the Group is currently applying
proportionate method in the consolidation of its jointly-controlled entity. The Group is currently examining
the financial impact of adopting MFRS 11.
MFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
MFRS 13 defines fair value and sets out a framework for measuring fair value, and the disclosure
requirements about fair value. This standard is intended to address the inconsistencies in the requirements
for measuring fair value across different accounting standards. The definition of fair value under this
standard emphasises the principle that fair value is a market-based measurement, not an entity specific
measurement.
The adoption of MFRS 13 will result in a change in accounting policy. The Group is currently examining
the financial impact of adopting MFRS 13.
MFRS 119 Employee Benefits (2011)
This revised MFRS 119 will supersede the existing MFRS 119 when effective. This new standard
makes significant changes to the recognition and measurement of defined benefit pension expense and
termination benefits, and to the disclosures for all employee benefits. Actuarial gains and losses will no
longer be deferred using the corridor approach. Past service costs, whether unvested or already vested,
are recognised immediately in the profit or loss as incurred and the annual defined benefit costs in the
profit or loss will include net interest expense/ income on the defined benefit asset/liability.
The adoption of MFRS 119 (2011) will result in a change in accounting policy. The Group is currently
examining the financial impact of adopting MFRS 119 (2011).
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2.

Basis of Preparation (Cont’d)
(a)

Statement of Compliance (Cont’d)
MFRS 127 Separate Financial Statements (2011)
Upon the adoption of MFRS 10, the accounting requirements relating to the preparation of consolidated
financial statements are no longer covered under MFRS 127. This revised MFRS 127 only cover the
requirements relating to the accounting for investments in subsidiary companies, associated companies
and joint ventures in the separate financial statements of the entity. In such cases, the entity should
account for such investments either at cost, or in accordance with MFRS 9.
The adoption of MFRS 127 (2011) will result in a change in accounting policy. The Group is currently
examining the financial impact of adopting MFRS 127 (2011).
MFRS 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011)
This revised MFRS 128 incorporates the requirements for accounting for joint ventures, as well as
associates, to be equity accounted following the issue of MFRS 11. However, the revised MFRS 128
exempts the investor from applying equity accounting in certain circumstances, i.e. where the investment
in the associated company or joint venture is held indirectly via venture capital organisations or mutual
funds and similar entities. In such cases, the entity shall measure the investment at fair value through
profit or loss, in accordance with MFRS 9.
The adoption of MFRS 128 (2011) will result in a change in accounting policy. The Group is currently
examining the financial impact of adopting MFRS 128 (2011).
The initial applications of other MFRSs are not expected to have any material financial impacts on the
financial statements of the Group and the Company.

(b)

Functional and presentation currency
These financial statements are presented in Ringgit Malaysia (RM), which is the Group’s functional
currency.

(c)

Significant accounting estimates and judgements
The summary of accounting policies as described in Note 3 are essential to understand the Group’s
and the Company’s results of operations, financial position, cash flows and other disclosures. Certain
of these accounting policies require critical accounting estimates that involve complex and subjective
judgements and the use of assumptions, some of which may be for matters that are inherently uncertain
and susceptible to change. Directors exercise their judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies.
Estimates, assumptions concerning the future and judgements are made in the preparation of the financial
statements. They affect the application of the Group’s accounting policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses, and disclosures made. Estimates and underlying assumptions are
assessed on an on-going basis and are based on experience and relevant factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The actual results may
differ from the judgements, estimates and assumptions made by management, and will seldom equal
the estimated results.
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2.

Basis of Preparation (Cont’d)
(c)

Significant accounting estimates and judgements (Cont’d)
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation or uncertainty at the
end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are set out below.
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
Management estimates the useful lives of the property, plant and equipment to be within 2 to 50 years
and reviews the useful lives of depreciable assets at end of each reporting period. At 31 December
2012, management assesses that the useful lives represent the expected utilisation of the assets to the
Group. Actual results, however, may vary due to change in the business plan and strategies, expected
level of usage and technological developments, which resulting the adjustment to the Group’s assets.
A reduction in the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment would increase the recorded
depreciation and decrease the value of property, plant and equipment. The effect of the change in the
estimated useful lives of the property, plant and equipment is disclosed in Note 4(d).
Amortisation of development costs
Initial capitalisation of development costs is based on management’s judgement that technical and
economical feasibility is confirmed, usually when a product development project has reached a defined
milestone according to an established project management model. In determining the amounts to be
capitalised, management makes assumptions regarding the expected future cash generations of the
project, discount rates to be applied and the expected period of benefits. Changes in the expected level
of usage and technological development could impact the economic useful lives and therefore future
amortisation charges could be revised.
Impairment of goodwill on consolidation
Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and also to choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
Impairment of investment in subsidiaries
The carrying values of investment in subsidiaries and the related goodwill are reviewed for impairment. In
the determination of the value in use of the investment, the Company is required to estimate the expected
cash flows to be generated by the subsidiary companies and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which all the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning strategies.
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2.

Basis of Preparation (Cont’d)
(c)

Significant accounting estimates and judgements (Cont’d)
Inventories write-down
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The Group estimates the net
realisable value of inventories based on an assessment of expected sales prices. Demand levels and
pricing competition could change from time to time. If such factors result in an adverse effect on the
Group’s products, the Group might be required to reduce the value of its inventories.
Impairment of loans and receivables
The Group assesses at the end of the reporting period whether there is any objective evidence that a
financial assets is impaired. To determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment, the Group
considers factors such as the probability of significant financial difficulties of the debtor and default or
significant delay in payments.
Where there is objective evidence of impairment, the amount and timing of future cash flows are estimated
based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics.
Fair value of financial instruments
Management uses valuation techniques in measuring the fair value of financial instruments where active
market quotes are not available. Details of the assumptions used are given in the notes regarding financial
assets and liabilities. In applying the valuation techniques management makes maximum use of market
inputs, and uses estimates and assumptions that are, as far as possible, consistent with observable data
that market participants would use in pricing the instrument. Where applicable data is not observable,
management uses its best estimate about the assumptions that market participants would make. These
estimates may vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the
end of the reporting period.
Impairment of non-financial assets
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. To determine the recoverable amount, management estimates
expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and determines a suitable interest rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. In the process of measuring expected future
cash flows management makes assumptions about future operating results. The actual results may vary,
and may cause significant adjustments to the Group’s assets within the next financial year.
In most cases, determining the applicable discount rate involves estimating the appropriate adjustment
to market risk and the appropriate adjustment to asset-specific risk factors.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies
(a)

Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and all its
subsidiaries, its associate companies through equity accounting, and its jointly controlled entities through
proportionate consolidation, which have been prepared in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policies, and are all drawn up to the same reporting period.
In the Company’s separate financial statements, investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost less
impairment losses in accordance with Note 5. On disposal of these investments, the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss.
(i)

Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are those companies in which the Group has long term equity interest and has the
power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits
from its activities, generally accompanying a shareholding of more than one half of the voting
rights.
Investment in subsidiaries is stated at cost less any impairment losses in the Company’s statement
of financial position, unless the investment is held for sale or distribution. The cost of investments
includes transaction costs.
Upon the disposal of investment in a subsidiary, the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and its carrying amount is included in profit or loss.

(ii)

Consolidation
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and are
no longer consolidated from the date that control ceases.
All intra-group balances, income and expenses and unrealised gains and losses resulting from
intra-group transactions are eliminated in full.
Changes in the Company owners’ ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss
of control are accounted for as equity transactions. In such circumstances, the carrying amounts
of the controlling and non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interest
is adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the parent.
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for the purchase of subsidiary companies.
The consideration transferred for acquisition of a subsidiary is measured as the fair value of the
assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed at the date of exchange,
as well as any contingent consideration given. Acquisition related costs are expensed off in the profit
or loss as incurred. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values on the date of acquisition
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
(a)

Basis of Consolidation (Cont’d)
(ii)

Consolidation (Cont’d)
In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
re-measured at its acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit
or loss.
If the Group loses control of a subsidiary company, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary
company, including any goodwill, and non-controlling interests are derecognised at their carrying
value on the date that control is lost. Any remaining investment in the entity is recognised at
fair value. The difference between the fair value of consideration received and the amounts
derecognised and the remaining fair value of the investment is recognised as a gain or loss on
disposal in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income.

(iii)

Goodwill on Consolidation
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over
the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If
this is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired (ie. a bargain purchase),
the gain is recognised in profit or loss.
Following the initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is not amortised but instead, it is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequent when
there is objective evidence that the carrying value may be impaired, in accordance with Note 7.
Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation
is made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose. Gains or losses on the disposal
of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.
As part of its transition to MFRS framework, the Group elected not to restate those business
combinations that occurred before the date of transition to MFRS. Goodwill arising from acquisitions
before 1 January 2011 has been carried forward from the previous FRS framework as at the date
of transition.

(iv)

Non-controlling Interests
Non-controlling interest is the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the
Group. On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group measures any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. At the end of reporting period, non-controlling interest consists
of amount calculated on the date of combinations and its share of changes in the subsidiary’s
equity since the date of combination.
All earnings and losses of the subsidiary are attributed to the parent and the non-controlling
interest, even if the attribution of losses to the non-controlling interest results in a debit balance in
the shareholders’ equity. Profit or loss attribution to non-controlling interests for prior years is not
restated.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies (cont’d)
(a)

Basis of Consolidation (Cont’d)
(v)

Associates
Associates are entities in which the Group has significant influence, but no control, over their
financial and operating policies. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity
method of accounting. Investments in associates include goodwill identified on acquisition, net of
any accumulated impairment loss in accordance with Note 6.
Equity accounting involves recording investments in associates initially at cost, and recognising
the Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition results and its share of post-acquisition net
results and other changes to comprehensive income against the carrying amount of the investments.
When the Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless
it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an associate, it is accounted for as a
disposal of the entire interest in that associate, with a resulting gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss. Any retaining investment is measured at fair value at that date and the fair value is
regarded as its fair value on initial recognition as a financial asset. Any difference between the
carrying amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence and the fair value of the retaining
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.
When the Group’s interest in an associate reduces but does not result in a loss of significant
influence, any retained interest is not re-measured. Any gain or loss arising from the decrease
in interest is recognised in profit or loss. Any gains or losses previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are also reclassified proportionately to the profit or loss.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the associate are
eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.
In the Company’s separate financial statements, investments in associates are stated at cost less
impairment losses in accordance with Note 6. On disposal of such investments, the difference
between net disposal proceeds and their carrying amounts is included in profit or loss.

(b)

Foreign Currency Translation
(i)

Foreign Currency Transactions and Balances
Transactions in foreign currency are recorded in the functional currency of the respective Group
entities using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At each reporting
date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
on that date.
Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date on which the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are translated using the rate at the date of transaction.
Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of
monetary items, are included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the
translation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period
except for the differences arising on the translation of non-monetary items in respect of which
gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. Exchange differences arising from such nonmonetary items are also recognised directly in equity.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
(b)

Foreign Currency Translation (Cont’d)
(ii)

Foreign Operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated into RM at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the reporting date, except for goodwill and fair value adjustments arising from business
combinations before 1 January 2011, the date of transition to MFRS, which are treated as assets
and liabilities of the Company. Income and expenses items are translated at the average rates
for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the
exchange rate at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising on the
translation are recognised in other comprehensive income.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of exchange differences relating to that
foreign operation, recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity shall be
reclassified to profit or loss when the gain or loss on disposal is recognised.

.
(c)

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses. The policy of recognition and measurement of impairment losses is in accordance
with Note 3(i).
(i)

Recognition and measurement
Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the assets and any
other costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to working condition for its intended use, cost
of replacing component parts of the assets, and the present value of the expected cost for the
decommissioning of the assets after their use. The cost of self-constructed assets also includes
the cost of materials and direct labour. For qualifying assets, borrowing costs are capitalised in
accordance with the accounting policy on borrowing costs. All other repair and maintenance costs
are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
The cost of property, plant and equipment recognised as a result of a business combination is
based on fair value at acquisition date. The fair value of property is the estimated amount for
which a property could be exchanged on the date of valuation between a willing buyer and a
willing seller in an arm’s length transaction after proper marketing wherein the parties had each
acted knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion. The fair value of other items of plant and
equipment is based on the quoted market prices for similar items.
When significant parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they
are accounted for as separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.
Property, plant and equipment are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Gains or losses arising on the disposal of property, plant
and equipment are determined as the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the assets and are recognised in profit or loss. On disposal of a revalued asset, the
amounts in revaluation reserve relating to those assets are transferred to retained profits.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
(c)

Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)
(i)

Recognition and measurement (Cont’d)
Land and buildings are measured at fair value less accumulated depreciation on buildings and
impairment losses recognised after the date of the revaluation. Valuations are performed with
sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from the fair value
of the land and buildings at the end of the reporting period.
As at the date of revaluation, accumulated depreciation, if any, is eliminated against the gross
carrying amount of the asset and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.
Any revaluation surplus arising upon appraisal of land is recognised in other comprehensive income
and credited to the revaluation reserve in equity. To the extent that any revaluation decrease or
impairment loss has previously been recognised in profit or loss, a revaluation increase is credited
to profit or loss with the remaining part of the increase recognised in other comprehensive income.
Downward revaluations of land are recognised upon appraisal or impairment testing, with the
decrease being charged to other comprehensive income to the extent of any revaluation surplus in
equity relating to this asset and any remaining decrease recognised in profit or loss. Any revaluation
surplus remaining in equity on disposal of the asset is transferred to other comprehensive income.

(ii)

Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying
amount of the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied within the part will
flow to the Group and its cost can be measured reliably. The costs of the day-to-day servicing
of property, plant and equipment are recognised in the statements of comprehensive income as
incurred.

(iii)

Depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in the profit or loss on straight line basis to write off the cost of each
asset to its residual value over its estimated useful life. Leased assets are depreciated over the
shorter of the lease term and their useful lives. Property, plant and equipment under construction
are not depreciated until the assets are ready for its intended use.
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated based on the estimated useful lives of the assets
as follows:
Buildings
Factory equipment
Furniture and fittings and office equipment
Motor vehicles
Renovation and electrical installation
Electrical and electronic

50 years
5 years
5 years
5 years
2 years
2 years

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at each financial year
end to ensure that the amount, method and period of depreciation are consistent with previous
estimates and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in
property, plant and equipment.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
(d)

Leases
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based on the substance of the
arrangement at the inception date, whether fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of
a specific asset or asset or the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset, even if that right is not
explicitly specific in an arrangement.
For arrangements entered into prior to 1 January 2010, the date of inception is deemed to be 1 January
2010 in accordance with the MFRS 1.
(i)

Finance Lease
Leases in terms of which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as finance lease. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an
amount equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting
policy applicable to that asset.
Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between finance charges and
reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability. Finance charges are recognised in finance costs in the profit or loss. Contingent
lease payments are accounted for by revising the minimum lease payments over the remaining
term of the lease when the lease adjustment is confirmed.
Leasehold land which in substance is a finance lease is classified as a property, plant and equipment.

(ii)

Operating Lease
Leases, where the Group does not assume substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
are classified as operating leases and, except for property interest held under operating lease,
the leased assets are not recognised on the statement of financial position. Property interest held
under an operating lease, which is held to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or both,
is classified as investment property.
Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral
part of the total lease expense, over the term of the lease. Contingent rentals are charged to profit
or loss in the reporting period in which they are incurred.
Leasehold land which in substance is an operating lease is classified as prepaid land lease
payments.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
(e)

Financial Assets
Financial assets are recognised on the statements of financial position when, and only when, the Group
and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.
When financial assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value, plus in the case of financial
assets not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs.
Embedded derivative is recognised separately from the host contract and accounted for as a derivative
if, and only if, it is not closely related to the economic characteristics and risks of the host contract and
the host contract is not categorised at fair value through profit or loss. The host contract, in the event an
embedded derivative is recognised separately, is accounted for in accordance with policy applicable to
the nature of the host contract.
Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs except for financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss, which are recognised at fair value. Transaction costs for financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.
The Group and the Company classify its financial assets depends on the purpose for which it was
acquired at initial recognition, into the following categories:
(i)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading, including
derivative or financial assets that are designated into this category upon initial recognition. A
financial asset is classified in this category if it is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose
of selling or repurchasing it in the near term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading
unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets.
After initial recognition, financial assets in this category are measured at fair value with any gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair values recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
the changes arise.

(ii)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. They are presented as current assets, except for those
maturing later than 12 months after the end of the reporting period which are presented as noncurrent assets.
After initial recognition, financial assets categorised as loans and receivables are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, and
through the amortisation process.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
(e)

Financial Assets (Cont’d)
(iii)

Held-to-maturity investments
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
and fixed maturity that the Group and the Company have the positive intention and ability to hold
to maturity. They are classified as non-current assets, except for those having maturity within 12
months after the end of the reporting period which are classified as current.
After initial recognition, financial assets categorised as held-to-maturity investments are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when held-to-maturity investments are derecognised or impaired, and
though the amortisation process.

(iv)

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category
or not classified in any of the other categories. They are presented as non-current assets unless
management intends to dispose of the assets within 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.
After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value. Any gains
or losses from changes in fair value of the financial asset are recognised in other comprehensive
income, except that impairment losses, foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary instruments
and interest calculated using the effective interest method are recognised in profit or loss. The
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment when the financial asset is derecognised.
Interest income calculated using the effective interest method is recognised in profit or loss.
Dividends on an available-for-sale equity instrument are recognised in profit or loss when the
Group’s and the Company’s right to receive payment is established.
Investment in equity instruments that do not have a quoted market price in an active market and
whose fair value cannot be reliably measured are measured at cost less impairment loss.
Regular way purchase or sale of financial assets
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the marketplace
concerned. All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised or derecognised
on the trade date i.e., the date that the Group and the Company commit to purchase or sell the
asset.
Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive cash flows from the
financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group and the Company have
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. On derecognition of a financial asset,
the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of consideration received and any
cumulative gains or loss that had been recognised in equity is recognised in the profit or loss.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
(f)

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised on the statements of financial position when, and only when the Group
and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.
All financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction cost and subsequently carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, other than those categorised as fair value through
profit or loss. Changes in the carrying value of these liabilities are recognised in the profit or loss.
The Group and the Company classify its financial liabilities at initial recognition, into the following
categories:
(i)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading,
derivative (except for financial guarantee contracts or a designated and effective hedging
instrument) and financial liabilities designated into this category upon initial recognition.
The Group and the Company have not designated any financial liabilities as at fair value through
profit or loss.

(ii)

Other liabilities measured at amortised cost
Other financial liabilities are non-derivatives financial liabilities. The Group’s and the Company’s
other financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables and borrowings. Other financial liabilities
are classified as current liabilities; except for maturities more than 12 months after the end of the
reporting period, in which case they are classified as non-current liabilities.
Other liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Gains and losses are recognised in the profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well
as through the effective interest rate method amortisation process.

(iii)

Financial guarantee contracts
A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specific payment to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specific debtor fails to make payment when
due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial guarantee contracts are recognised initially at fair value and are amortised to profit
or loss using a straight-line method over the contractual period or, when there is no specific
contractual period, recognised in profit or loss upon discharge of the guarantee. Subsequently,
the carrying amount is measured at the higher of the best estimate of the obligation under the
contract in accordance with MFRS 137 at the reporting date and the initial amount recognised
less accumulated amortisation. If the carrying amount of the financial guarantee contract is lower
than the obligation, the carrying amount is adjusted to the obligation amount and accounted for
as a provision.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
(f)

Financial Liabilities (Cont’d)
Derecognition
A financial liability or a part of it is derecognised when, and only when, the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged or cancelled or expires. On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference
between the carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished or transferred to another party and
the consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised
in profit or loss.
Offsetting of Financial Instruments
A financial asset and financial liability are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

(g)

Inventories
Raw materials, work-in-progress and finished goods are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost of raw material is determined on a weighted average basis. Cost of finished goods and work-inprogress consists of direct material, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of production overheads
(based on normal operating capacity).
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

(h)

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand, bank balances, demand deposits, bank overdraft
and highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amount of cash and which are subject
to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents are presented net of bank overdrafts and pledged deposits.

(i)

Impairment of Assets
(i)

Non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period
to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists then the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. For goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives are tested for impairment annually as at the end of each reporting period, either individually
or at the cash-generating unit level, as appropriate and when circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired.
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised immediately in profit or loss. A
cash-generating unit is the smallest identifiable asset group that generates cash flows that largely
are independent from other assets and groups.
The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating units is the greater of its value in use
and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.
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3.

Significant Accounting Policies (Cont’d)
(i)

Impairment of Assets (Cont’d)
(i)

Non-financial assets (Cont’d)
Previously recognised impairment losses are assessed at the end of each reporting period whether
there is any indication that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed
only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the asset’s recoverable
amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The reversal is limited so that the carrying
amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised
for asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the profit or loss unless the asset is carried
at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as a revaluation increase.
Impairment of goodwill
Goodwill is tested for impairment annually as at the end of each reporting period, and when
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. Impairment is determined for
goodwill by assessing the recoverable amount of each cash-generating unit (or group of cashgenerating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cashgenerating unit is less than their carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or
loss. Impairment loss relating to goodwill is not reversed.

(ii)

Financial assets
All financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, investment in subsidiary
company and investment on associate company, are assessed at each reporting date whether
there is any objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events having an impact
on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.
Financial assets carried at amortised cost
To determine whether there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on financial assets has
been incurred, the Group considers factors such as the probability of insolvency or significant
financial difficulties of the receivable and default or significant delay in payments. For certain
categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be
impaired individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis based on
similar risk characteristics.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio
past the average credit period and observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with defaults on receivables.
If any such evidence exists, the amount of impairment loss is measured as the difference between
the assets carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
expected credit losses that have not yet been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original
effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account and the amount of impairment loss is recognised in the profit or loss.
If in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does
not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date. The amount of reversal is recognised in profit
or loss.

